Morrow County School District

and

Morrow County Education Association



July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025 July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2028

Morrow County School District does not discriminate on the basis of perceived or actual race, religion, color, national or ethnic origin, mental or physical disability, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, pregnancy, familial status, economic status, veterans' status or genetic information in providing employment, education, or access to benefits of education services, activities and programs in accordance with Title VI, Title IX and other civil rights or discrimination issues; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; the Americans with Disabilities Act; and the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008.

PREFACE

CONTRACT BETWEEN MORROW COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

AND

THE MORROW COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

This Agreement is entered into by and between the Morrow County Education Association, hereinafter called the "Association", affiliated with the Oregon Education Association, and the National Education Association and the Morrow County School District No. 1-R, Morrow County, hereinafter called the "District".

Whereas, the District has a statutory obligation to negotiate under the laws as requested by the Association, as the representatives of the members of the bargaining unit, and

Whereas, the parties in consideration thereof, the following are all hereby agreed as pertinent parts of this contract:

TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Addendum to the Agreement shall be effective upon the date of ratification, and shall be binding upon the District, the Association, and their members, and shall expire June 30, 20252028.

Executed this 10th 23rd day of June 2024 2025, at Morrow County, Oregon, by the undersigned officers by authority of and on behalf of the Morrow County District Board and the Morrow County Education Association.

FOR THE ASSOCIATION:	FOR THE DISTRICT:
President, MCEA	Chairman, Board of Directors
 Date	Date

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Article</u>

Article 1	Recognition
Article 2	Nondiscrimination
Article 3	Management Rights
Article 4	Association Rights & Privileges
Article 5	Rights of Professional Employees
Article 6	Maintenance of Classroom Control/Discipline
Article 7	Employee Evaluation
Article 8	Maintenance of Standards
Article 9	Personal Life
Article 10	Academic Freedom
Article 11	Vacancies, Promotions & Transfers
Article 12	Employee Hours & Conditions
Article 13	Substitute Employees
Article 14	Travel Reimbursement
Article 15	School Calendar & Work-year
Article 16	Employee Assignment
Article 17	Site Councils
Article 18	Personnel Files
Article 19	Professional Compensation
Article 20	Dues & Payroll Deductions
Article 21	Insurance
Article 22	Retirement Options
Article 23	Sick Leave
Article 24	Paid Leaves of Absence
Article 25	Unpaid Leaves of Absence
Article 26	Professional & Educational Development
Article 27	Negotiation Procedure
Article 28	Grievance Procedure
Article 29	Complaint Procedure
Article 30	Reduction in Force
Article 31	Employee Discipline (Just Cause)
Article 32	Due Process
Article 33	Separability
Article 34	Compliance with Master Agreement
Article 35	Funding the Agreement
Appendix A	Salary
Appendix B	Extended Days Schedule
Appendix C	Salary Schedule
Appendix D	Extra Duty
Appendix E	Extra Duty Schedule
Appendix F	Coaches Salary Schedule

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

A. The District recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for licensed employees employed or to be employed one-half time or more by the District for the duration of this contract. Supervisors, confidential employees, and licensed substitute employees are excluded from the bargaining unit.

The term licensed substitute employee means a licensed employee who is replacing a regular employee and who works less than forty-five (45) consecutive workdays in one school year in the same teaching position. A licensed employee who has worked forty-five (45) consecutive days or more in the same position in one school year is a temporary employee. Temporary employees are part of the bargaining unit.

- B. The term employee when used hereinafter in the Agreement shall refer to all licensed employees represented by the Association in the bargaining unit as defined above.
- C. The District agrees not to negotiate with or recognize any licensed employee organization other than the duly elected representative for the duration of this Agreement. Contacts between the District and the Association will be between the Superintendent for the District and the President for the Association.

ARTICLE 2 NONDISCRIMINATION

The Union and the District agree that equal employment opportunity and treatment shall be practiced regardless of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, sexual orientation, age, marital status, pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition, veterans' status, service in uniformed service, familial status, genetic information, an individual's juvenile records that has been expunged, and disability if the employee, with or without reasonable accommodation, is able to perform the essential functions of the position and regardless of membership or non-membership in the Union.

ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

A. It is recognized that the Board has and will continue to retain the rights and responsibilities to operate and manage the District and its programs, facilities, properties and the District related activities of its employees, and the exercise of discretion related thereto, except as limited by this Agreement and applicable state law. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Board to continue in existence any of its present programs, in its present form and/or location or on any other basis.

The duties, powers, rights, authority, and responsibilities of the Board specifically include, but are not limited to:

1. The executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities;

- 2. The hiring of all employees and the right to determine their qualifications and the conditions of their continued employment or their discipline, dismissal, demotion, promotion or transfer;
- 3. The right of assignment and direction of work of all of its personnel, determination of the number of shifts and hours of work and starting times and scheduling of all the foregoing, but not in conflict with the specific provisions of this Agreement, and the right to establish, modify or change any work or business hours or days;
- 4. The right to establish the school calendar;
- 5. Determine the services, supplies and equipment necessary to continue its operations and to determine the methods, schedules and standards of operation, the means, methods, and processes of carrying on the work including automation thereof or changes therein, the institution of new and/or improved methods or changes therein;
- 6. Adopt reasonable rules and regulations;
- 7. Determine the qualifications of employees;
- 8. Determine the location or relocation of its facilities, including the establishment or relocations of new schools, buildings, departments, divisions or subdivisions thereof and the relocation or closing of offices, departments, divisions or subdivisions, building or other facilities;
- 9. Determine the placement of operations, production, services, maintenance or distribution of work, and the source of materials and supplies;
- 10. Determine the financial policies, including all accounting procedures, and all matters pertaining to public relations;
- 11. Determine the size of the management organization, its functions, authority, amount of supervision and table of organization;
- 12. Determine the policy affecting the selection or testing of applicants new to the District for employment providing such selection shall be based upon lawful criteria and determine the policy affecting the training of employees.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authorities, duties, and responsibilities by the District shall be limited only by the specific, written terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent that such terms are in conformance with the Constitution and the laws of the state of Oregon.

- B. Nothing in this contract shall restrict the District's right to contract or subcontract out bargaining unit work provided:
 - 1. Said contracting or subcontracting is not the direct cause of employees being displaced from their work;
 - 2. Said contracting or subcontracting is not the direct cause of employees suffering any reduction in pay;

3. Should said contracting or subcontracting be the direct cause of employees either being displaced from their work or suffering a reduction in pay, the District, upon the Association making a timely demand, shall have an obligation to bargain over the impact of subcontracting, but not the decision to subcontract. Such bargaining shall be pursuant to the expedited process as outlined in ORS 243.698.

ARTICLE 4

ASSOCIATION RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES

- A. The Association may have the use of a bulletin board in each faculty lounge for use within legal bounds of such a privilege.
- B. Upon request, the Association's building representative shall be allowed to make brief announcements and reports at faculty meetings.
- C. The District shall place on the agenda of each regular Board meeting an opportunity for an Association representative to comment or make suggestions on matters discussed. The Association shall have the opportunity to ask that items be placed on the Board agenda if said items are made known to the Superintendent's office at least one (1) week prior to the regularly scheduled Board meeting.
- D. The Association has the right to have placed in the Superintendent's "Opening of School" letter to all licensed staff, a letter prepared by the Association informing employees that the Association is recognized as the exclusive negotiating representative for all licensed employees in Morrow County School District covered under this contract and while the contract is in force.
- E. The District agrees to grant five (5) leave days per year to the Association (not to each individual representative of the Association) to attend Association conferences, trainings, and workshops. The Association shall reimburse the district the cost of a substitute if one is hired.
- F. The Association shall have the right to conduct meetings at employee work locations before or after regular work hours, during meal periods, and during any other break periods. The Association shall have the right to select the time and place of meetings, provided that the meetings do not interfere with the District's operations. The Association shall have the right to conduct meetings without undue interference.
- G. The Association President will provide the District with a list of Designated Association Representatives at the beginning of each school year. Designated Association Representatives shall be granted reasonable paid time to perform Association duties during regular scheduled work hours without loss in pay, benefits, leave accrual, or seniority. Association duties include participation in legal proceedings, investigations, new member orientations, grievances, and labor-management meetings.
- H. The Association shall have the right to use the District's computers and email system to communicate with bargaining unit members regarding Association business.
- I. The Association shall have the right to meet with current employees during regular work hours at the employees' worksite to address grievances, complaints, and matters related to employment relations.

- J. The Association shall have the right to meet with new employees for up to one hour during New Staff Orientation and for one hour during the work day within 30 days after hire without loss of pay or benefits.
- K. The Association is guaranteed the right to receive employer-provided information free of charge for the purpose of bargaining and processing grievances.
- L. The District will provide to the Association President updated job descriptions for each type of position covered under the collective bargaining agreement. Any changes to a job description during the school year will be provided to the Association President prior to the changes being made.

ARTICLE 5 RIGHTS OF PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES

- A. Employees shall have the right to organize, join and assist the Association to participate in professional negotiations with the Board through the Association and to engage in other activities individually or in concert for the purpose of establishing, maintaining, protecting or improving conditions of professional service.
- B. The District and the Association agree all employees have the unqualified right to file a grievance and that neither the Association nor the District may take any action against a staff member as a result of their having exercised, or declined to exercise, that right.
- C. Grading of Students

Employees shall maintain the right and responsibility to determine grades and related evaluation of students. No grade will be altered without first reviewing with the employee the procedure used in such grading or evaluation. The District will make every effort to contact an employee no longer employed by the District before a grade is altered or changed. If and when a grade is changed by an administrator, the administration will initial and document said change and accept full responsibility for said change.

- D. Criticism by the supervisor, administrator, or the Board of an employee and his/her instructional methodology shall be made in confidence and not in the presence of students, other employees, or parents.
- E. No employee shall be prevented from wearing pins or other identification of membership in the Association or its affiliates.
- F. In accordance with Oregon law, employees may request and have in attendance a representative of the Association at any investigatory meeting which might reasonably be expected to lead to disciplinary action.
- G. In the event a disciplinary action is to be taken, the employee shall be advised of the right to representation in writing at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the meeting at which the disciplinary action is to be presented to the employee.

ARTICLE 6 MAINTENANCE OF CLASSROOM CONTROL AND DISCIPLINE

- A. A definition of responsibilities: A definition of the duties and responsibilities of all licensed employees, administrators, supervisors and other personnel pertaining to student discipline shall be reduced to writing by the Superintendent and presented to each employee at the start of each school year.
- B. Special assistance and disruptive students: It is expected that all employees will make every attempt to handle problems involving students; however, when, in the employee's judgment, the student is, by his/her behavior seriously disrupting the instructional program to the detriment of other students, the employee may exclude the student from the classroom and refer him/her to the principal. In this event, the principal shall confer with the employee and other concerned parties and attempt to arrive at a mutually acceptable solution to the problem.
 - If the building principal, the employee, the parents and the student together fail to solve the problem, the Superintendent shall be consulted. His/her decision, based on a review of all facts, shall be final.
- C. Any student who poses a threat of imminent harm to a bargaining unit member or other student(s) may be removed from the classroom. The bargaining unit member will have an opportunity to consult with the principal within 24 hours. A student who causes physical injury to an employee is prohibited from returning to the employee's workspace until a re-entry meeting is held.
- D. School principals will meet with the bargaining unit members at the beginning of each school year to discuss building disciplinary standards and procedures and school district policies relating to threats of violence, assaults, or other dangerous student behaviors.

ARTICLE 7 EMPLOYEE EVALUATION

- A. The evaluation process shall be in accordance with the District's evaluation policy.
- B. At the beginning of the school year a copy of the District's evaluation procedure will be provided to all employees via the District's website. Hard copies will be made available upon employee request.
- C. Observations of work performance shall be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the employee.
- D. In preparation for a formal observation, a pre-observation conference, which includes but is not limited to establishment of performance goals based on performance standards, and post-observation conference will be held with the employee.
- E. Evaluations will be completed using the Talent Ed Perform platform. All documents shall be electronically signed by the employee and the supervisor. Records from prior years will continue to be available, but the employee is encouraged to make copies if they choose to.
- F. Before changes are made to the evaluation handbook, the District will meet and consult with representatives of the Association.
- G. The District shall not place any employee on a Plan of Assistance for Improvement without prior observation, evaluation, and written notice of deficiency. The District shall not place any employee on a Plan of Assistance for Improvement for conduct reasons. An employee may have Association representation at any meeting related to that employee's Plan of Assistance for Improvement.

Article 8 MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS

Conditions of employment, including teaching hours, extra compensation for duties outside regular teaching hours, relief periods, leaves and other teaching conditions shall be maintained as specifically as required by the expressed terms of the Agreement. The parties affirm hereby their understanding and agreement that the bargaining unit members shall not suffer a loss of compensation unless otherwise mandated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 9 PERSONAL LIFE

The personal life of an employee is not the appropriate concern of the Board unless it can be shown to be impairing the effectiveness of the employee in his or her work assignments. Employees do recognize that an Oregon licensed teacher must meet the standards of Teacher Standards & Practices Commission and OAR 584-20-0000-0035 – the Competent and Ethical Educator.

ARTICLE 10 ACADEMIC FREEDOM

The Board and employees will strive to provide a teaching and learning environment which is free from unreasonable censorship and free from restraint upon inquiry and learning. Along with said freedom is the responsibility to see that what is taught follows the District approved course of study.

ARTICLE 11 VACANCIES, PROMOTIONS & TRANSFERS

- A. Vacancies are classified as three levels.
 - 1. Level I In-district building level vacancy. Level I vacancies are only posted in the building which they occur for a minimum of 3 days.
 - 2. Level II In-district vacancy. Level II vacancies are posted in-district only for a minimum of 5 days.
 - 3. Level III MCSD vacancy. Level III vacancies are posted both in and out of district.
 - a) All vacancies shall be posted as they occur and will be posted in a place accessible to bargaining unit members and sent via electronic notification from the district office.
 It is the discretion of the administration to post vacancies at any of the three levels.
 - b) The district shall continue to receive applications/letters of interest for vacancies for a minimum of seven (7) calendar days after it provided notice of said vacancies.

B. Applications for Vacancies

- 1. Employees interested in filling vacancies as provided herein shall have the responsibility to contact the personnel office and apply for the position prior to the closing date for applications. In-district applicants shall apply through the online application process for internal candidates on the Talent Ed Applicant Tracking platform.
- 2. Employees who have indicated their interest in a vacancy as provided herein and who meet the minimum qualifications for the vacancy shall be provided an interview for same.

C. Involuntary Transfer

- 1. When an employee is involuntarily transferred, he/she will have the opportunity to make known to the appropriate administrators his/her wishes regarding a new assignment.
- 2. Notice of an involuntary transfer will be given to the employee as soon as possible.
- 3. If an employee is involuntarily transferred during the school year (when students are in school), the District will provide one (1) day for relocation and preparation. If the transfer is to a different school within the District during the school year, then one (1) additional day may be granted if needed, at the discretion of the administration.
- 4. When it is necessary to transfer an employee to another building due to student enrollment, the district will first inquire with the staff if anyone is interested in transferring to the needed position. If no one is interested, the decision will be made by seniority with applicable experience considered. Applicable experience is considered to be K-3, 4-6, 7-12 and appropriate endorsements.

ARTICLE 12 EMPLOYEE HOURS AND CONDITIONS

A. Employee Hours

Regular building hours for teachers shall be eight and one half (8½) hours. On the last student day of the week and the day preceding a school vacation period, teachers may leave one-quarter hour after dismissal of students. Teachers shall request permission from their administrator when deviation from these hours is necessary. Modification to the workday for PLCs or similar workgroups may be made at the building level by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of teachers.

B. Employee Loads

- 1. No secondary employee shall be assigned more than six (6) different preparations per term unless an employee volunteers to do so.
- 2. All secondary employees will have one (1) regular class period for the specific purpose of preparing for teaching assignments.
- 3. All elementary employees shall be provided with an unassigned thirty (30) minutes continuous preparation time within the student contact day. The specific organization of that time shall be mutually agreed to by the building administrator and the teaching staff at each level. If a situation exists where the individual employee prefers an alternate preparation time, it may be mutually agreed to by the employee and the building administrator, but not during assigned time in school with pupils.
- 4. If an employee is assigned by the administration to cover classes or duties for an absent employee during their preparation period, the assigned employee will receive the hourly extended contract rate for each full class period covered. The administrator may make other mutually acceptable arrangements with the employee to replace the time spent covering an absent employee's classes or duties.
- 5. If an employee(s) is assigned by an administrator to absorb an absent employee's class into a grade-level classroom, then the employee(s) who covered the class shall be paid for the coverage time at the district-adopted substitute hourly rate. The paid amount shall be divided equitably among the covering employee(s). This compensation will not be paid on Friday Enrichment days unless the total class size exceeds the employees enrolled class size.

- C. All licensed personnel will have a duty-free continuous 30-minute lunch break within the normal school day.
- D. An employee engaged in negotiations on behalf of the Association with any representatives of the District or participating in but not preparing for any professional grievance negotiation during the school day shall be released from regular duty without loss of salary.

ARTICLE 13 SUBSTITUTE EMPLOYEES

- A. It is the responsibility of the employee to electronically file their leave in the online Absence Management system. This must be completed prior to the absence by using the timeline designated by building administration. If it is not possible to do so, it is the responsibility of the employee to contact the principal or the head secretary.
- B. Whenever an employee is absent from school, for whatever purpose, every reasonable effort shall be made by the administration to hire a qualified substitute.
- C. A master list of substitutes shall be completed by Human Resources and will be available online through the Absence Management System.

ARTICLE 14 TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT

Employees who are required to use their own automobiles in the performance of their duties and teachers who are assigned to travel to more than one (1) school per day will be reimbursed for all such travel at the current IRS rate.

The District shall arrange for and maintain appropriate liability insurance to cover all damages, losses and expenses incurred by an employee against whom, any action shall be brought for any act or omission arising out of the authorized use of his/her automobile in the performance of school duties.

ARTICLE 15 SCHOOL CALENDAR AND SCHOOL WORKYEAR

- A. The school calendar will be established by the District after consulting with employees.
- B. If the last day of school prior to the Christmas vacation falls on December 23rd or December 24th, dismissal time will be 1:30pm and similarly, if a school day is scheduled on the Friday before Christmas vacation, the early release schedule will be used. The early release schedule will also be utilized on the last student day before Thanksgiving and the last student day of the school year.
- C. For the 2016-17 school year, and for each additional year in the life of this contract, for which the four (4) day student week is continued, there will be:
 - 150 student contact days
 - 6 8-hour employee in-service days
 - 7 8-hour employee work days with at least 50% of the time dedicated to staff work time
 - 4 paid holidays: Labor Day, Veteran's Day, Memorial Day, President's Day
 - 2 4-hour Friday work days

- 2 4-hour Friday in-service days
- ◆ 2 8-hour Friday Enrichment days
 - o Students will utilize the 3-hour delay schedule on Enrichment Fridays
- 2 days (or 16 hours) for conferences and 2 hours for Open House (to be added by the building Principal)
- Total of 173 171 contract days
- D. There will be parent/teacher conference time following each first and third nine week grading period, or as determined by staff and administration at the building level, with emphasis directed at maximizing parent participation.
- E. It is understood that teacher presence is highly valued at student/parent activities. Teachers' participation in their building's student/parent events is strongly encouraged.
- F. For purposes of accounting leave: A day will be considered eight (8) hours and a half-day four (4) hours.
- G. The first two (2) inclement weather days will not be made up. The 3rd and 4th day will utilize the remaining Friday Enrichment Days, which will count as instructional time for students. Every day after that will become a virtual school day utilizing the three (3) hour delay. Virtual School Day expectations:
 - a. Teachers Update Google classrooms; provide open office time for students to check in; make calls to students using Google #, check in with students regarding completion of packet work (K-6).
 - b. Counselors reach out to families that may have additional struggles with severe weather
- H. Friday Enrichment Days are not to be full student contact days.
 - Students will utilize the 3-hour delay schedule on Enrichment Fridays
 - If employees are expected to attend meetings during the student contact time, a roving substitute will be provided.

ARTICLE 16 EMPLOYEE ASSIGNMENT

- A. Employees will not be assigned, except temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching licenses and/or their major or minor fields of study.
- B. All employees will be given notice of their specific assignment, class, subject, building and room for the forthcoming year by the last working day of the current school year. If an assignment is changed by the District after the notification, the employee will be notified of that change as soon as possible.
- C. When making assignments, every effort will be made not to impose an unreasonable amount of interschool travel.

ARTICLE 17 SITE COUNCILS

A. The District shall establish building site councils (known as 21st Century Schools Councils under the law) as mandated by Section 14, Chapter 693 of Oregon Laws, 1991. The duties of any such site councils shall be those defined by law, District policy or this Agreement.

- B. The parties recognize that site councils include representatives from the classified employees, administration, the District's patrons, as well as from the licensed staff. However, the parties hereby agree that the representatives of the licensed staff shall be determined in accordance with ORS 336.745 (3). Further, a "direct election" as provided therein shall be conducted no later than September 15 of each school year.
- C. Each site council may determine its meeting schedule.
- D. Bargaining unit members who serve on the site councils shall be eligible to receive a stipend of \$30 for each time the council meets to conduct business outside of the workday as defined in Article XXI, Section A of the Agreement. However, in no event shall the total compensation as provided herein exceed \$240 per year for each bargaining unit member. Further, bargaining unit members must attend the site council meetings to be eligible to receive the stipend provided herein. The total cost to the District of any stipend as provided herein shall not exceed \$1,200 per site council per year.
- E. The decisions of each site council shall be in compliance with the law, District policy, administrative regulation and this Agreement.

ARTICLE 18 PERSONNEL FILES

- A. All official records of licensed personnel employed by the District shall be kept in the District office under an adequate protection at all times. Such records may be inspected only by the individual concerned, the School Board in executive session, the Superintendent, or persons acting for and under the Superintendent's direction, or by others authorized in writing by the Superintendent and/or the individual concerned. The Superintendent or designee will notify the employee via email, phone or mail if authorization to access the personnel file is requested.
- B. The personnel records so filed shall include, but not necessarily be limited to the following items:
 - a) Annual performance evaluation reports (required state form and District forms, if any);
 - b) Academic transcripts;
 - c) Completed application for employment;
 - d) Medical report information;
 - e) Employment contracts;
 - f) Records of additional academic work and related growth experience bearing on salary adjustments;
 - g) Copies of commendations, complaints and suggestions relative to professional performance;
 - h) Teacher certification information;
 - i) Any replies, comments and explanations the individual wishes to append to such data and reports over his/her signature.
 - 2. There shall be one (1) official personnel file.

- 3. Supervisors may maintain working files to assist them in their supervisory functions.
- 4. Removal of personnel files for examination by authorized parties is to be done only by an authorized central office staff member.
- 5. The employee concerned will receive a copy of any non-confidential documents contained therein upon request.
- 6. Evidence not previously recorded in the employee's personnel file prior to the formal notification of the demotion, discipline, or other involuntary change is the employment status shall not be used by the Board as a basis for its action.
- 7. At least once every year, an employee will have the right to indicate those documents and/or other materials in his/her file which he/she believes to be obsolete or otherwise inappropriate for retention. Said documents will be reviewed by an appropriate member of the administration and if the administrator agrees and if such removal is otherwise legal, they will be destroyed.
- 8. By appointment, an employee may review his/her personnel file. Said review shall be made in the presence of designated staff in the District's administrative office.

C.

- 1. No material which is adversely critical to a bargaining unit member's conduct, performance or ability to perform will be placed in his/her personnel file unless the bargaining unit member has had an opportunity to review the material. The bargaining unit member will acknowledge that he/she has had an opportunity to review such material by affixing his/her signature to the copy to be filed, with the express understanding that such signature in no way indicates agreement with the contents thereof. The bargaining unit member will also have the right to submit a written rebuttal to such material which will be attached to the file copy.
- Records pertaining to disciplinary actions which are reduced or eliminated through the grievance procedure will be amended in, or eliminated from, the personnel file as indicated by the results of the grievance process.

ARTICLE 19 PROFESSIONAL COMPENSATION

A. Salary Schedules

- 1. The basic salaries of employees covered by this Agreement shall be set forth in Appendix A. A step increase will be granted to those who are eligible.
- 2. Appendices B -- F are included for extended responsibility and extra pay, respectively.
- B. In the 2019 session, the Oregon legislature passed SB 1049 to be in effect as of January 1, 2020 and will remain in effect until December 31, 2024. In the 2023 session, the Oregon legislature extended the current law under SB 1049, renaming it HB 2296. HB 2296 will be in effect as of January 1, 2024 and will remain in effect until December 31, 2033. A key aspect of the bill allows PERS retirees to work back without hourly restrictions with the mutual agreement of the employer. The bill also requires employers to pay all employee PERS related costs directed to the state UAL. Each district has the discretion in determining how they will implement this legislation.
 - In order to comply with the new law, MCSD will follow established procedures.
- C. For movement on the salary schedule: Hours earned toward advancement on this salary schedule shall be upper division or graduate hours; in-district credit as approved by the principal, and the superintendent or designee; or, lower division credit that relates to district goals.
- D. Any employee who intends to advance horizontally on the salary schedule must notify the Human Resources by March 15th preceding the year in which the advance will occur.
- E. When an employee has earned the right to a higher salary by reason of increased professional training, the change shall be made at the start of the school year. Certificate of earned credits for this purpose shall be by transcript or by certificate of completion and filed in the Human Resources office by November 1st. The district will not accept online grades.
- F. All placements on the salary schedule are based on a BA degree and a legal Oregon Teaching License. For purposes of this schedule, the columns and their degree designation assume that the teaching license was earned at the time of the granting of the degree and that hours granted beyond the degree are also hours beyond the earning qualifications for teaching.
- G. If a regular pay date during the school term falls on a day when school is not in session, employees shall receive pay on the last day of the school session. Each employee shall receive 2 of his/her summer paychecks on the last work day that school is in session, one of which will be paper and the 3rd either by mail or direct deposit within 5 business days. Unused personal leave will be included in the employees final check of the school year.
- H. Any balance in the Board's contractual salary, due to an employee not returning to the District, shall be paid on the last workday of the school term unless otherwise provided by the written consent of the teacher.
- I. Each employee shall be paid on the basis of twelve (12) equal payments.
- J. The District and the Association recognizes that teachers offering Early College Credit (e.g. Eastern Promise & CTE Dual Credit) incur an additional workload. Teachers will be compensated with a zero-period stipend for the semester(s) that college credit courses are taught. Teachers are expected

- to participate in any training with sponsored colleges to maintain their certification as a part of this compensation. Staff administering challenge tests or non-instructed courses will not be compensated.
- K. The District shall pay the 6% employee contribution on behalf of the employee to the Public Employee Retirement System.

ARTICLE 20 DUES AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- A. The District will deduct dues, fees, and any other assessments or authorized deductions to the Morrow Co. Education Association (MCEA) and the Oregon Education Association (OEA) in accordance with the payroll deduction authorizations signed by members and provided to the OEA. The OEA will provide the District with a list identifying the employees who have signed such authorizations and the authorized deduction amounts. The District shall rely on the list to make the authorized deductions and to remit payment to the MCEA and the OEA.
- B. Upon appropriate written request from the employee, the District shall deduct from the salary of any employee and make appropriate remittance for the following approved deductions: Credit Union, Cancer Insurance, Tax Sheltered Annuity, Morrow County Education Association Scholarship Fund (\$5.00 minimum contribution).
- C. In addition, the District shall perform the same service for Association members for any insurance plans offered for Association members within the mechanical limits of the District's accounting system.
- D. Nothing in this article is to be construed as limiting the District from performing the same services for non-Association members.
- E. In October, February, and May of each year, the District shall provide to the OEA Membership Specialist an Excel-compatible database of each employee in the bargaining unit (both active members and non-members) that includes the employee ID, date of birth, first date of service, FTE, classification or title, PERS classification, worksite, position on the salary schedule, home address, and home phone number. Whenever a new employee is hired into the bargaining unit, the District shall provide the above information within ten (10) days of hire. The District shall promptly notify the OEA Membership Specialist whenever an employee in the bargaining unit is placed on an unpaid leave of absence, retires, is laid off, resigns, or changes their name.

ARTICLE 21 INSURANCE

- A. The District shall offer each regular licensed employee and his/her family medical, dental, and vision insurance benefits. The Association and the District shall pick the insurance carrier and coverage given the constraints in Section B herein. The district and the association will explore comparable coverage in the state pool, without increasing out-of-pocket expense, and within the cap.
- B. The District's contribution towards the total cost of premiums for insurance coverage as provided in this contract shall be:
 - 1. From October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025 October 1, 2025 to September 30, 2026 the District's obligation toward the premium cost shall not exceed \$1825 \$1875 per employee per month.
 - For staff members who elect an HSA Plan 100% of the difference between the cost of the insurance and the district cap will be put into a Health Savings Account (HSA).
 - 2. For new licensed staff hired for the 2012-13 school year and beyond, the district will prorate the district's contribution for the total cost of health insurance premiums as provided in this contract, based on the assignment FTE of the employee in a regular teaching position. (i.e., .75 FTE will receive 75% of benefits; .50 FTE will receive 50% of benefits, etc.).
- C. Insurance benefits, as provided, shall be effective for the entire term of the Agreement. In the event that no new Agreement has been realized by June 30, 2025 June 30th of the current year, the parties stipulate that the benefits provided and the Board's contribution towards the costs of premiums for benefits shall remain in effect at the "status quo" until such time as a successor Agreement is ratified.
- D. The District will provide insurance for repair or replacement of personal items which are used as teaching aids and which are itemized and listed on the District's insurance policy with a \$25.00 deductible. This will be a part of the District's insurance program.
- E. The District maintains the right to determine the method of premium payment for all insurance agreed upon at the most reasonable cost to the District provided that the method chosen does not reduce the insurance benefit to the individual employee.
- F. Subject to the rules and regulations of the insurance carrier, OEBB, and the IRS, active employees who maintain and provide proof of another medical benefit plan may opt-out of District sponsored health insurance coverage. Employees who opt-out of health insurance coverage, and who are otherwise eligible for a District contribution towards insurance premiums, may receive 50% of the employee's maximum District insurance contribution as a contribution toward a District Sponsored Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) VEBA, as long as such contribution would not create disadvantageous tax consequences for the District or the employee.

The remaining 50% will go to the district. Opt-out decisions must be made at annual enrollment.

Eligible employees who do not maintain and provide proof annually of another employer-sponsored group medical plan will not be permitted to opt-out of District sponsored group insurance coverage.

ARTICLE 22 RETIREMENT BENEFITS

When an employee meets the requirements outlined below and receives retirement benefits under PERS, the District shall offer the following retirement benefits:

Application: An employee desiring to receive any of the benefits outlined in this Article shall notify the Superintendent in writing at least sixty days prior to the anticipated date of retirement.

Benefit #1: As of July 1, 2003, an employee must have completed twenty (20) years of teaching, of which ten (10) years must have been in service to the School District.

The District shall pay the amount of the District cap toward the monthly premiums for the employee's present insurance programs at the time of retirement for seven (7) years or until the employee qualifies for the federal Social Security Medicare coverage, whichever is earlier.

In the event of the employee's death prior to both the end of the seven-year period and coverage under Medicare, the District, if the spouse of the teacher is, at the time of the employee's death not covered by Medicare, shall pay monthly premiums incident to covering such spouse until such time as the seven-year period would have expired or the employee's spouse becomes covered by Medicare, whichever occurs first.

The District agrees to allow a retired employee to buy group health / medical insurance beyond the seven years described above, until Medicare benefits start, under the following conditions:

- 1. Such coverage is available under the current insurance carrier.
- 2. There is no cost to the District beyond the clerical costs.

Benefit #1 is available only to those employees who have met the qualifications as explained above as of July 1, 2003.

Benefit #2: Those employees who do not meet the qualifications for Benefit #1 above, but have been with the District at least 10 years or more shall, upon proper application as outlined above, receive a monthly amount equal to 1/35th of the seven-year premium amount, as outlined in Benefit #1 above for each year of service prior to July 1, 2002. These employees shall also have the option to participate in a prospective matching program, with the District contributing up to \$50 per month each into a TSA or a qualifying retirement plan of the employees choosing and the employee contributing an equivalent amount through payroll deduction, as long as at least 30 certified employees choose a particular company and the employee is otherwise eligible to participate. The requirement for at least 30 certified employees using a particular company shall not apply if there are less than 4 companies being used by certified employees at the time. Employees may contribute more than \$50 per month, however the District will only match up to \$50 per month.

Benefit #3: Those employees who were hired prior to July 1, 2002, but have less than 10 years with the District as of July 1, 2002 shall have the opportunity to participate in a matching program, with the District and the employee contributing up to \$35 per month each into a TSA or qualifying retirement plan of their choosing, as long as at least 30 certified employees choose a particular company and the employee is otherwise eligible to participate. The requirement for at least 30 certified employees using a particular company shall not apply if there are less than 4 companies being used by certified

employees at the time. Employees may contribute more than \$35 per month, however the District will only match up to \$35 per month.

Benefit #4: Those employees who are hired after July 1, 2002, shall have the opportunity to participate in a matching program, with the District and the employee contributing up to \$20 per month each into a TSA account or qualifying retirement plan of their choosing, as long as at least 30 certified employees choose the company and the employee is otherwise eligible to participate. The requirement for at least 30 certified employees using a particular company shall not apply if there are less than 4 companies being used by certified employees at the time. Employees may contribute more than \$20 per month, however the District will only match up to \$20 per month.

ARTICLE 23 SICK LEAVE

- A. **Sick Leave:** Employees who are absent because of personal illness shall receive compensation in accordance with ORS 332.507 and the following provisions:
 - 1. All employees shall be granted eighty (80) hours sick leave during each school year. Such sick leave shall be credited to said employees on the first employee duty day of the fall term.
 - 2. Accumulation of unused sick leave shall be unlimited.
 Unused accumulated sick leave will be applied to retirement in accordance with Pers guidelines.
 - 3. An employee who has accumulated sick leave during employment in another school district, shall, upon proper verification, be allowed sick leave days in accordance with ORS 332.507
 - 4. Pursuant to ORS 659A.029, sick leave shall be granted for the period that an employee is unable to teach because of pregnancy or childbirth.
 - 5. Employees will be permitted to donate sick leave to a sick leave bank administered by the MCEA Executive Committee in compliance with this article. Records for the sick leave bank will be kept by the District Office.
 - a. The sick leave bank is set up for the purpose of allowing current licensed employees to donate sick leave to specific current licensed eligible employees of the District.
 - b. Eligibility: 1. To be eligible a current employee must be absent from work because of an injury or illness to the employee that prevents the employee from working. 2.To be eligible a current employee must not be receiving any of the following: Other District paid leave; workers compensation benefits; PERS; Social Security or PERS disability benefits; or long-term disability insurance benefits. 3. To be eligible a current employee must be otherwise eligible to receive sick leave. 4. Participation in the sick leave bank as a receiver is open to Association members only. 5. 4. To be eligible, an Association member in good standing employee must apply to and be approved by the MCEA Executive Committee or designee, upon said written approval to the District Office the following will happen:
 - c. The District office will send out a request for a donation of one sick leave day from each licensed employee. An approved employee may receive up to 30 days of sick leave on the first request, and should it be approved by the MCEA, an additional up to 30 days on the second request within a twelve (12) month period. If more than needed days are donated in any one request, the MCEA Executive Committee and the District Office will devise a random selection to pick the requested days and the rest shall be returned to the individuals.
 - d. The sick leave bank does not create any obligation on the part of the District or the MCEA to provide sick leave to any employee who has exhausted their accrued sick leave.
 - e. The District will begin to request days after the days currently on the books, (145) have been used.
 - 6. If an employee takes more than three consecutive scheduled work days an employer may require the employee to provide verification from a health care provider of the need for sick time or certification of the need for leave.
 - B. Injury on duty: The absence of an employee because of illness or accident for which he/she receives compensation from the State Accident Insurance Fund shall be considered as sick leave. SAIF compensation from the time lost (but not disability settlements) shall be deducted from sick leave compensation paid to the employee by the District. However, the amount of sick leave time charged against the employee's sick leave account shall be only that portion of each day for which he/she is actually compensated by the District. Such payments shall be discontinued when the employee's accumulated sick leave is exhausted.

ARTICLE 24 PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

A. Personal Leave *

1. Each licensed employee will be granted twenty-four (24) hours non-cumulative personal leave per year. At the conclusion of each school year the employee may carry forward no more than one personal day. Personal leave will be permitted to accumulate to forty (40) hours. The licensed employee will provide a minimum of two (2) days notice, if possible, before taking such leave. The Board agrees to compensate employees at the individual's daily rate for unused personal leave days.

B. Bereavement

Up to 32 hours bereavement leave, per event, will be granted upon the death of a member of the immediate family or death of a person who, because of close association, is perceived as a family member.

Members of the immediate family are defined as follows: spouse ("spouse means individuals in a marriage including "common law" marriage and same sex marriage), father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, ster, sister-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren and relatives living in the immediate household.

In the event of a death involving other than those mentioned above, only the superintendent may approve the request for leave.

C. Paid Oregon Sick Time *

In accordance with the Oregon Sick Time statute, the district agrees to pay up to forty (40) hours per year of paid sick time. This leave may be used in the case of mental illness or physical illness, injury or health condition, need for medical diagnosis, treatment of a mental illness or physical illness, injury or health condition, or need for preventative medical care for self or for care of family member for reasons listed above. Paid sick time may also be used for the death of a family member, bereavement, or participation in a legal or civil proceeding related to domestic violence, harassment, sexual assault, or stalking. This paid sick time will be front-loaded to the employee at the beginning of each year.

Definition of "Family Member" means spouse ("spouse" means individuals in a marriage including "common law" marriage and same-sex marriage), custodial parent, noncustodial parent, adoptive parent, stepparent or foster parent, biological parent, child of the employee (biological, adopted, foster or step child, a legal ward or child of the employee standing in loco parentis) or a person with whom the employee is or was in a relationship of "in loco parentis", grandparent, grandchild, parents-in-law or the parents of the employee's registered domestic partner.

D. Abnormal Situations

In the event school is closed due to inclement weather and students are not asked to report, teachers shall not be required to report to work nor shall they suffer a loss of pay. The District shall, however, have the right to make up such days without additional compensation.

In situations where an employee cannot report to work because of flood, storm, or other acts of God, he/she will be paid if he/she has made every reasonable effort to anticipate such an emergency and to

make the necessary arrangements to be available for work. In these cases, the employee will notify the District as soon as possible of his/her absence.

E. Jury Duty and Court Appearances

- 1. Employees called to jury duty will be paid their regular salary. Payments received for jury service shall be forwarded to the District Office.
- 2. Employees under subpoena to testify as a witness before a court, or other bona fide judicial body will be paid their regular salary. Payments received for service as a witness will be forwarded to the District Office.

Proration of Leave: Leave marked with an "" in this article will be prorated for those employees who by contract or by unpaid leave work less than a full year for the District. This proration will not be retroactive. It will only impact leave available during the shortened contract or at the onset of unpaid leave.

F. Emergency Response Volunteers

The district recognizes that it is important for employees to volunteer within their communities. Employees shall be excused during their workday to volunteer for their local fire departments when needed, with no penalties or loss of salary provided the following be met:

- 1. No substitute is needed to cover the absence because it is not allowable on a student day.
- 2. A letter from the local fire chief stating the employee was in fact volunteering during an emergency.
- 3. Payments received for voluntary service shall be forwarded to the district office.

G. Supplementing Paid Leave Oregon

Many employees' Paid Leave Oregon benefit will be less than 100% of their regular wages. The District agrees that employees may choose to supplement the Paid Leave Oregon benefits by utilizing accrued paid leaves. Employees who choose to supplement their Paid Leave Oregon benefit will use available accrued leave in the order specified by the district in established FMLA/OFLA policy. Employees may not receive more than 100% of their regular wages if they choose to supplement their Paid Leave Oregon payments. The District will calculate the number of hours required to cover the difference between Paid Leave Oregon benefits paid to the employee and the employee's regular weekly average earnings and deduct those hours from the leave categories as per FMLA/OFLA policy.

ARTICLE 25 UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- A. Professional Study: After four (4) years of successful teaching in the Morrow County School District, an employee may apply for an unpaid leave of absence for schooling. Such leave request will may be granted, provided it satisfies the following criteria:
 - 1. Requests must be submitted in writing to the Superintendent by April 15.
 - 2. Requests must contain the specific reason for the leave.
 - 3. Requests must show some benefit to the school system.
 - 4. Requests must stipulate the amount of leave time needed.
 - 5. Requests must provide an expected date of return and, if the leave granted is for one (1) year, then notice of intent to return will be given to the Board no later than April 15th during the year in which leave is granted.
 - 6. An employee on leave for schooling would retain his or her position the following year, and would receive a normal increment as though he/she had been teaching. Failure to attend school once a leave is granted for that purpose would cause the District commitments in this paragraph to be null and void.
 - 7. If an emergency situation prevented an employee from fulfilling the requested leave for schooling, the employee will be able to retain the same or substantially the same position the following year but would not receive a pay increment.
- B. Travel: After four (4) years of successful teaching in the Morrow County School District, an employee may apply for an unpaid leave of absence for travel and such leave may be granted at the discretion of the Board subject to the following criteria being met:
 - 1. Request for leave must be submitted in writing to the Superintendent by April 15.
 - 2. Request must contain reason for the leave.
 - 3. Request must show how travel would benefit the students and school system.
 - 4. Request must stipulate amount of leave time needed.
 - 5. Request must provide an expected date of return and if the leave granted is for a full year, then notice of intent to return will be given to the Board no later than April 15 during the year in which the leave is granted.
 - 6. Report must be given to the Board upon return.
 - 7. An employee on approved travel leave would retain his or her position the following year, and would receive a normal increment as though he/she had been teaching. Failure to use the leave for the specified purpose would cause the District commitments in this paragraph to be null and void.

- 8. If an emergency situation prevents an employee from fulfilling the requested leave for travel, the employee would be able to retain the same or substantially the same position the following year but will not receive a pay increment.
- C. A leave of absence of up to two (2) years shall be granted to any employee, upon application, for the purpose of serving as an officer of the Association or on its staff.
- D. Maternity or Adoption: Maternity or adoption leave of up to ten months shall be granted licensed employees upon request. Readiness of re-employment shall be discretionary with the licensed employee involved, but shall not extend beyond one contract year. At the onset of the leave the employee involved shall give the principal a realistic estimate of time of return.
- E. Child Care: A leave of absence may be granted to any employee for the purpose of childcare.
- F. Return from Leave: Benefits All benefits to which an employee was entitled at the time of the leave, including seniority and unused accumulated sick leave, shall be restored to the employee upon his/her return, and the employee shall be assigned to the same or substantially the same position if possible, which the employee held at the time said leave commenced.
- G. Extension & Renewals: All extensions or renewals of leaves shall be applied for and granted in writing.
- H. Employees wishing leave for Association work should make application by June 30. Said employees wishing to return to the District shall give such notification by April 1.
- I. Benefits During Unpaid Leave: When the unpaid leave is granted, the employee will be given the opportunity of continuing to receive District provided benefits (hospital-medical insurance, dental and vision insurance). The employee will remit to the District Office said payments as directed by district staff to cover the costs of maintaining the employee's benefits. It is understood that, if illness occurs during an unpaid leave, no sick leave pay will be provided by the District.

ARTICLE 26 PROFESSIONAL & EDUCATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Tuition Reimbursement

The District will set aside \$60,000 annually for tuition reimbursement opportunities for qualified staff.

NOTE:

- For institutions on the semester system, each two semester hours shall be considered three quarter hours
- The reimbursement year shall be considered July 1 through June 30.

Reimbursement Rate

Rate of payment will not exceed the actual tuition at an Oregon state college rate for up to 9 quarter credits. Any non-state college course taken will be paid at the average rate of tuition only of the 6 Oregon state colleges. All credits must be received and reimbursement applied for in the same fiscal year. Any payment for coursework made between June 1st and June 30th for summer term will be recognized as being in the new fiscal year.

Application Period

Reimbursement will be on a first-come, first served basis, with all applications made no later than May 15th of each year for credits earned that school year.

Eligibility

The District will reimburse for tuition under the following guidelines:

- Upper division or graduate level coursework required by Teacher Standards & Practices Commission for full Oregon licensure and/or to be considered highly qualified (HQ) under NCLB legislation; Verification required for approval; or
- 2) Coursework taken as part of a master's program in the education field; or
- 3) Upper division and/or graduate level credit that is germane to the teaching assignment and/or in line with school and/or district goals; or
- 4) Upper division or graduate level coursework that is at the discretion of the district and taken for the upgrading of a license (i.e., adding additional endorsements, administrative licensure, etc.); or
- 5) The teacher must obtain written approval from the superintendent, assistant superintendent or human resources director, on the district approval form, prior to the start of the any coursework for undergraduate/lower division or graduate credit not met by 1-4 above (i.e., lower division language classes, computer courses, etc.)

Proof of Completion

In addition to the coursework restrictions provided above, the following requirements must be satisfied by the employee before reimbursement will occur:

- 1) The teacher must submit an itemized receipt for the amount of tuition paid.
- 2) The employee must submit a transcript or grade slip indicating a "pass" grade or better. No online grades will be accepted.
- 3) The employee may submit for tuition reimbursement prior to receiving a transcript, but must do this on or before May 15th for credits earned that school year.

Service Requirement

Three years of service in the District following the receipt of tuition reimbursement is required for all recipients. In the event that an employee voluntarily terminates their employment with the District they will be required to reimburse back to the District on a prorated basis any tuition support received within the three-year window.

If the employee resigns prior to fulfilling the agreement, repayment of tuition reimbursement to the district will be taken out of the employee's last checks.

Special circumstances may warrant the Superintendent to waive a portion or all of the money received by a teacher under the Tuition Reimbursement in this article. Staff on leave must return to work before any payment is made.

Workshops/Conferences/Professional Events

The district will set aside \$30,000 for workshops, conferences and/or professional events for employees. All requests must be approved by the principal and/or site council before being forwarded to the Director of Educational Services for final approval. District office will notify the MCEA President of all professional development requests. Employees must select events that are germane to their teaching assignment or are in accordance with school and/or district goals.

Out of region professional development requests will only be considered when initiated by the district and aligned with district or state initiatives.

Emergency or Restricted Licensure Completion

A teacher hired on an emergency or restricted license who is required to be absent on a contract day to complete coursework for their license will not be charged for paid or unpaid leave.

ARTICLE 27 NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE

- A. This contract between the Association and the District supersedes the previous collective bargaining Agreement.
- B. This contract shall continue as written unless changed in negotiations. Either the District or the Association may notify the other of its wish to open negotiations under law. Such notification and request to open negotiations shall be made prior to October 1, prior to the June 30 ending of the current Agreement.
- C. The parties shall be obligated to provide each other information as required by ORS 243.672 (1) (e) and ORS 243.673 (2) (b), respectively.
- D. This Agreement may not be modified in whole or in part by the parties except by an instrument in writing by both parties.
- E. The District shall electronically send the Agreement that includes all applicable signatures to the Association. A current copy of the agreement will be available on the District website.
- F. Around April 1st of each year of this agreement, the parties agree to a limited re-opener to discuss the financial package, including salary, insurance and/or other health related benefits, for the following year. Each side may also bring forward two (2) additional, non-financial issues for consideration.

ARTICLE 28 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Purpose

The purpose of this procedure is to provide an orderly method for resolving grievances as herein defined. A determined effort shall be made by the Board, the administration, the grievant and the Association to settle grievances at the lowest possible level in this procedure.

A. Definition

1. Grievance

A claim by an employee, or a group of employees, or the Association of an alleged violation of a specific provision of this Agreement.

2. Aggrieved

The employee, or group of employees, or the Association making the grievance. If the aggrieved is a group of employees of the Association, all members of the bargaining unit known at the time the grievance is initiated or appealed to be included in the group shall be specifically identified.

3. Party in Interest

The employee, or employees making the grievance and any person who might be required to take action or against whom action might be taken in order to resolve said grievance.

4. Days

Working school days, including weekdays during summer break. Weekend or vacation days are thus excluded. The number of days indicated at each level should be considered as a maximum and every effort be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may, however, be extended by mutual agreement. During the summer break, the time limits may be extended at the request of either party.

5. Representative

A member of the Association, an official representative of the Association, or any other employee requested by the aggrieved to represent him/her during the grievance procedure.

B. Time Limits

- The time limits herein shall be binding on all parties unless waived or extended by written
 mutual agreement. The grievant and the District may, by written mutual agreement, extend or
 modify the time limits herein as is appropriate. Both parties agree to act in good faith in
 extending or modifying time limits.
- 2. If a grievant fails to initiate his/her grievance within the time specified herein, the grievance shall be deemed waived.

- 3. If a grievant fails to process his/her grievance according to the time limits set herein, the grievance shall be resolved in accordance with the response of the administration at the preceding step.
- 4. If the District fails to adhere to the time limits set herein, the grievance automatically advances to the next step.

C. Grievance Process

Step 1:

The grievant shall discuss the grievance informally with his/her supervisor within ten (10) days from the occurrence of the grievance or ten (10) days from the grievant's first knowledge of the grievance.

The supervisor will have five (5) days to respond to the informal grievance.

If the grievance remains unresolved, the grievant shall submit a written grievance to the principal within ten (10) days from the receipt of the informal response, but in no case more than twenty-five (25) days from the occurrence of the grievance or grievant's first knowledge of the grievance.

The grievance statement shall contain:

- 1) A statement of the grievance and relevant facts;
- 2) The management action or inaction which violated the Agreement;
- 3) The specific provisions of the Agreement alleged violated; and
- 4) Specifically how the management actions or inactions violated the specific contract language cited;
- 5) The remedies sought by the grievant which would resolve the grievance.

The principal shall respond in writing to the grievant within ten (10) days; a copy of his/her response shall also go to the Association.

Step 2:

If the grievance remains unresolved, the grievant shall submit the grievance statement to the Superintendent within ten (10) days from receipt of the supervisor's response. The Superintendent shall give a written response to the grievant within ten (10) days after receipt of the grievance statement; or

Step 3:

If the grievance remains unresolved, the grievant shall submit the grievance statement to the Board of Education within ten (10) days from receipt of the Superintendent's response. The Board shall give a written response to the grievant within twenty (20) days after receipt of the grievance statement; or

Step 4:

Grievances not settled in Step 3 of the grievance procedure may be appealed to arbitration by the Association provided written notice of a request for arbitration is made to the Superintendent within ten (10) days of receipt of the Board's answer in Step 3. When a timely request has been made for arbitration, the parties to this Agreement or their designated representatives shall attempt to select an impartial arbitrator. Failing to do so, they shall, within ten (10) days of the request for arbitration, jointly request the Oregon State Conciliation Service in Salem, Oregon, to submit a list of seven arbitrators who

maintain an office in Oregon or Washington. As soon as the list has been received, the parties or their designated representatives shall determine by lot the order of elimination and thereafter each shall, in that order, alternately strike a name from the list, and the seventh and remaining name shall act as the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall schedule a hearing and, after hearing such evidence as the parties desire to submit to support or deny the grievance statement, shall render a written decision and opinion within thirty (30) calendar days following the close of the hearing. The arbitration hearing shall be held in accordance with the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitrator shall be without power or authority to make any decision or to impose any obligation on the Association or the District which is violative of the terms of this Agreement or to effectively amend the terms of this Agreement. A decision of the arbitrator shall, within the scope of his/her authority, shall be binding on both parties.

D. Miscellaneous

1. The costs for the services of the arbitrator, including per diem expenses, if any, and his/her travel and subsistence expenses and the cost of any hearing room will be borne equally by the Board and the aggrieved. All other costs will be borne by the party incurring them.

2. Reprisals

No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by the Board or by any member of the administration against any party in interest, any representative, any member of the Association, or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.

3. Representation

The grievant may have a representative(s) at any or all stages of the procedure.

4. Separate Grievance File

All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a contractual grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants.

5. Forms

Forms for filing grievances, serving notices, taking appeals, making reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents shall be prepared jointly by the Superintendent and the Association and given appropriate distribution so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure.

6. Meetings and Hearings

All meetings and hearings under this procedure shall be closed unless the aggrieved requests them to be open.

7. The aggrieved persons will be required to exhaust the grievance procedure set forth in this article, including arbitration, before seeking alternative remedies, provided that by doing so they will not be deemed to have waived or otherwise prejudiced any constitutional, statutory, or other legal rights that they may have.

ARTICLE 29 COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

A. Complaint Procedure

If a complaint is made against an employee to the administration and the complaint does not involve allegations of conduct which may be criminal or may amount to physical abuse or sexual harassment or abuse, the parties will first attempt to resolve the complaint at an informal level. If the complaint involved an allegation of conduct, which may be criminal or may amount to physical abuse or sexual harassment or abuse, then the complaint procedure will be utilizing beginning with Section B below. Complaints found by the administration to be without merit, shall not become a part of the employee's personnel file. If the complaint remains unresolved, said complaint shall be processed as follows:

- 1. If the administration intends to make a record in the evaluation report of a complaint received concerning the employee; or
- 2. If the administration intends to place a record of such complaint in the employee's personnel file; or
- 3. If in the administrator's judgment, such complaint is sufficiently relevant to the employee's performance as to indicate the desirability of a conference, then:
- B. Pursuant to A. above, a conference shall be held with the employee with five (5) working days (as defined in Article III) after the complaint is made to the administration. Excluded from this time requirement are situations where conduct is being investigated by law enforcement officials. Once the District is notified that a law enforcement investigation is completed, the District will follow this complaint procedure and will hold a conference with the teacher within five (5) working days after notification. At the conference, the employee will be given notice of the complaint. Said notice shall be prepared in writing by either the complainant or a District administrator and shall include all available information, including person(s) making the complaint, nature of complaint, and requested remedy, if any.
- C. Any such complaint except as noted above which the administration chooses not to discuss with the employee or which is not discussed within the required time shall not be considered in the employee's evaluation and shall not be used against the employee in any subsequent action by the District and shall not be placed in the personnel file.
- D. The employee will have the right to attach rebuttals or explanations to any written documents placed in the personnel file.
- E. The employee shall have a right to be represented at any meetings or conferences regarding such complaints.

ARTICLE 30 REDUCTION IN FORCE

Α.

1. In the event the Board determined that a layoff is necessary due to the District's inability to levy a tax sufficient to provide funds to continue its program at its anticipated level, or resulting from the District's elimination or adjustment of classes due to administrative decision, the following will apply; layoffs shall be for non-personal reasons. The Association and employees shall be notified at least forty-five (45) days prior to the effective date of the layoff. In the event

of school closure due to lack of funds, however, the notice shall be given as soon as practicable. Notice will include all positions and names of teachers who are being considered for layoff, and the reasons for the proposed action.

In accordance with other necessary legal requirements, the District will lay off teachers as provided herein.

- 2. The Board shall determine the programs/positions to be reduced or eliminated.
- 3. The Association agrees that there will be no obligation on the part of the District to bargain over the decisions that may lead to an increased workload on the remaining bargaining unit members as a result of the layoff. However, should the Association believe that there is a more than de minimis impact on the workload of those bargaining until members who are retained by the District subsequent to a layoff and if it makes a timely demand to bargain said matter, the parties shall negotiate the terms of said impact. Nevertheless, it expressly agrees that such a demand to bargain or subsequent negotiations that may result shall not in any way impede the layoff of bargaining unit members or reduction in force as provided herein.

B. Procedure for Layoff

- 1. Seniority shall be defined as the employees' total length of continuous service in the District as a licensed teacher. Seniority will be computed and accrued from a teacher's first day of actual service with the District inclusive of approved leaves. Ties shall be broken by drawing lots.
- 2. The District will retain or lay off employees based on certification, seniority and competence. Specifically, the District will retain the properly certified employee with the most seniority unless the District determines that the employee does not meet the criteria for competence established in this Article.

For purposes of this Article, "competence" shall be defined as the ability to teach a subject area or grade level based on recent teaching experience related to that subject or grade level within the last seven years, or educational attainments, or both, but not based solely on being licensed to teach. The district may consider a teacher's willingness to undergo additional training or pursue additional education in deciding upon questions of competence. Competence based on educational attainments or training shall be established when an employee has, within the last seven years, successfully completed nine quarter units acceptable to meet the requirements for an endorsement in the curricular area of the potential assignment. A meeting to create a plan for a teacher to reach or maintain competence in an endorsement or curricular area may be requested by a teacher at any time. The teacher and their supervisor will identify what experiences will be needed to maintain competence in the specific endorsement or curricular area. They will ensure they have included all necessary work to maintain licensure in this area. This plan will be reviewed and subject to approval by the Superintendent. After approval it will be the teacher's responsibility to complete the plan to maintain the competence.

For purposes of determining whether or not an employee's recent teaching experience is related to a particular grade level, the experience will be considered applicable if it falls within the grouping of grade levels as follows:

Kindergarten through 4th grade
3rd grade through 6th grade
5th grade through 9th grade
7th grade through 12th grade

C. Recall

If, within twenty-seven (27) months of layoff, a vacancy occurs within the District for which a laid-off teacher is certified, recall shall be in reverse order of layoff unless the District determines that recall out of reverse order is necessary based on competence.

- 1. At the time of layoff, the District shall receive the laid-off teacher's address for recall notification. In the event of a recall, the District shall notify the teacher(s) of the recall by certified mail, return receipt requested, sent to the last address given by the teacher to the District office. The teacher will have ten (10) calendar days from the date as certified received, to notify the District of intent to return. The teacher must, thereafter, return to work within thirty (30) days from the date the recall notice was received, or if employed elsewhere, at a time mutually agreed upon by the District and the employee. Failure of the teacher to respond within the ten (10) calendar days of the certified notice herein specified shall terminate the teacher's employment as a voluntary resignation.
- 2. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time of layoff, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to the teacher upon the teacher's return to active employment provided those benefits are still in effect, and the teacher will be placed on the proper step of the salary schedule for the teacher's current position according to the teacher's experience and education.

D. Benefits

- 1. The District shall continue to pay insurance benefits on behalf of the teacher for a period of sixty (60) days. Such coverage may be continued for the balance of the layoff provided the employee pays the premium and such practice is with the approval of the insurance carrier.
- 2. The Board shall have no obligation to provide these insurance benefits to a laid-off teacher who commences employment as a teacher or in another related education capacity with a school district or other public agency.
- E. At the time the District announces its intent to implement the provisions of the article, upon request it agrees to provide at no cost to the Association, a complete list of all certified employees, including each employee's date of hire, total teaching experience, and areas of certification.
- F. By inclusion of this article in the Agreement, the parties understand and agree that nothing in this labor contract guarantees continuous employment.
- G. No teaching position in the District shall be considered "vacant" for purposes of ORS 342.845 (5), if filling the position with a non-extended administrator would cause another employee to be laid off or if there is a licensed and qualified employee on the recall list who would otherwise be entitled to be recalled to that position.

ARTICLE 31 EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE (JUST CAUSE)

- A. Rules and regulations governing employee conduct shall be reasonable, and enforcement of teacher discipline shall be fair and exercised for just cause.
- B. Expressly excluded from this article are matters pertaining to assignment and retention in extended responsibility assignments.
- C. This article shall not apply to the dismissal of probationary employees, the non-renewal of probationary employees' contracts for the first three years of employment, or the first notice of non-extension of contract employees, such matters will be covered by the Fair Dismissal Law and are not grievable under this contract.
- D. Appeal of District actions for employees covered under this article shall be limited exclusively to the contract grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 32 DUE PROCESS

- A. No member of the bargaining unit shall be reduced in basic compensation, suspended without pay, non-renewed or dismissed without due process. Basic compensation shall be defined as reduction in teaching salary excluding extra duty and volunteers.
- B. For purposes of this Article, due process shall be defined as:
 - 1. Written notice and explanation of charges, allegations or conduct at issue.
 - 2. An opportunity to respond to the supervisor before the action being considered is taken.
- C. The employee will have the right to appeal only the procedure through the grievance procedure of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 33 SEPARABILITY

Separability: If any provision of this Agreement or any applications of this Agreement is contrary to law, the law shall prevail.

ARTICLE 34 COMPLIANCE WITH MASTER AGREEMENT

Any contract between the Board and an individual employee heretofore or hereafter executed shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of the Agreement. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

ARTICLE 35 FUNDING OF THE AGREEMENT

If the District closes its schools because of a lack of funds, no member of the bargaining unit shall be entitled to any wage, salary or fringe benefits provided in this Agreement while the schools are closed. However, if schools are closed for 7 or less days the district's contribution to employee health insurance benefits will not be altered. If it is necessary to close schools for more than 7 days, the district's monthly contribution will be prorated based on the number of days worked in the month. The district will notify the Association before announcing the closure.

SALARY APPENDIX A

Salary for 2024 – 2025 2025 - 2026 will be steps and columns to all who qualify, plus longevity if it is earned.

Longevity will be based on years of service in Morrow County School District and will be paid to employees, including retire/rehire employees, on the second pay period of the school year.

Starting at the beginning of the 10^{th} year through the 14^{th} year will be \$364 \$375 Starting at the beginning of the 15^{th} year through the 19^{th} year will be \$580 \$597 Starting at the beginning of the 20^{th} year through the 24^{th} year will be \$798 \$822 Starting at the beginning of the 25^{th} year through the 29^{th} year will be \$1,015 \$1045 Starting at the 30^{th} year longevity pay will be \$1,235 \$1272 for each year thereafter.

EXTENDED DAYS SCHEDULE APPENDIX B

General supervision and/or ticket selling at all sporting events, dances, concerts, drama productions, committee, club class activities, or any other school function outside regular working hours or extending past regular working hours will be paid at the rate of \$20 per hour. Building administrators shall first seek volunteers for these assignments before assigning teachers on an involuntary basis to perform general supervision. No teacher shall be compelled to perform general supervision in excess of eight hours per month. Employees with extended contracts must submit their extended contract calendar to building administration.

Extended Contracts

See administrative guidelines for a detailed listing of extended contract responsibilities.

Music/Band Five (5) days extended contract

Special Education Ten (10) days extended contract

Vocational Agriculture Thirty (30) days extended contract or as recommended by the

principal and approved by the Superintendent

CTSO Advisor (Career & Tech Student Organization) Eight (8) days extended contract or as recommended

by the principal and approved by the Superintendent

Art Three (3) days extended contract

Shop Three (3) days extended contract

Counseling

Heppner Jr/Sr High Fifteen (15) days extended contract Riverside Jr/Sr High Fifteen (15) days extended contract Irrigon Jr/Sr High Fifteen (15) days extended contract

Head Teacher Forty (40) days extended contract

Upon a request, the appropriate District agent shall meet with the involved teacher to discuss the duties in the extended contract. In the event of a dispute over said duties, the determination of the District's agent shall prevail.

2024-2025 Salary Schedule – 3% COLA							
2025-2026 Salary Schedule - % COLA							
Step	BA/BS+0 BA/BS+15	BA/BS+30	BA/BS+45	STD+0 MA/MS+0 BA+60	STD+30 MA/MS+30 BA+95	STD+45 MA/MS+45	
1	52,186	53,430	54,767	56,137	57,537	58,976	
2	53,708	54,989	56,365	57,773	59,216	60,696	
3	55,276	56,594	58,012	59,460	60,947	62,468	
4	56,891	58,244	59,704	61,196	62,726	64,293	
5	58,554	59,947	61,449	62,982	64,557	66,171	
6	60,262	61,698	63,240	64,820	66,444	68,104	
7	62,020	63,501	65,089	66,713	68,384	70,094	
8		65,356	66,987	68,663	70,380	72,271	
9		67,261	68,943	70,670	72,435	74,245	
10			70,956	72,732	74,549	76,414	
11			73,028	74,855	76,727	78,646	
12			75,162	77,041	78,969	80,942	
13			77,357	79,294	81,272	83,307	
14				81,607	83,647	85,738	
15				83,985	86,092	88,239	
16				89,222	91,453	93,738	

2024-2025 Daily

Step	BA/BS+0 BA/BS+15	BA/BS+30	BA/BS+45	STD+0 MA/MS+0 BA+60	STD+30 MA/MS+30 BA+95	STD+45 MA/MS+45
1	298	305	313	321	329	337
2	307	314	322	330	338	347
3	316	323	331	340	348	357
4	325	333	341	350	358	367
5	335	343	351	360	369	378
6	344	353	361	370	380	389
7	354	363	372	381	391	401
8	-	373	383	392	402	413
9	-	384	394	404	414	424
10	-	-	405	416	426	437
11	-	-	417	428	438	449
12	-	-	429	440	451	463
13	-	-	442	453	464	476
14	-	-	-	466	478	490
15	-	-	-	480	492	504
16	-	-	-	510	523	536

EXTRA DUTY PAY SCHEDULE APPENDIX D

- A. 100 Hours*
 - o SPED Coordinator
- B. 80 Hours*
- C. 70 Hours*
- D. 60 Hours*
 - o Music Band (Pep Band)
 - o D.A.R.T. Coordinator
 - o ELL Site Coordinator
- E. 45 Hours*
 - o Coordinator of Talented and Gifted Afterschool and/or Friday School Enrichment (all students)
 - o Title One Teachers
- F. 40 Hours*
 - o Annual, Drama (2 act play) Advisor
- G. Outdoor Education Advisors \$375/year ELL/ESOL Endorsement - \$1605 total payable over a 3-year period (\$535/\$535/\$535) Spanish Speaker - \$1605 total payable over a 3-year period (\$535/\$535/\$535). Verified by test. Afterschool and/or Friday School Enrichment - paid at curriculum rate, not to exceed \$1000/year. Mentor/Mentee Stipend - \$1500/30 hours

2024 25 Extra Duty Schedule

2025-26 Extra Duty Schedule

Step/Column	Α	В	С	D	E	F
0	4,919	3,850	3,423	2,992	2,139	1,818
1	5,135	4,063	3,636	3,208	2,244	1,924
2	5,345	4,279	3,850	3,423	2,351	2,032
3	5,560	4,492	4,063	3,636	2,460	2,139
4	5,775	4,706	4,279	3,850	2,568	2,244

^{*}Additional work hours required for extra-duty Appendix D

2024-25 2025-26

COACHES SALARY SCHEDULE Appendix F

Step/Column	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G
	Head AD	High School Head Coaches	High School JV Coaches	High School 3 rd Asst. or C Team	Assistant AD	Jr. High Head Coach	Jr. High Asst. Coach
0	5,208	4,895	3,787	2,525	2,604	1,726	1,302
1	5,485	5,084	3,946	2,682	2,742	1,934	1,509
2	5,794	5,469	4,105	2,841	2,895	2,142	1,615
3	6,036	5,789	4,258	2,997	3,017	2,351	1,720
4	6,313	6,153	4,419	3,155	3,155	2,561	1,822

Athletic Directors will receive one prep period to support their AD duties.

EXCESSIVE MILEAGE STIPEND

Average mileage for league play is set at 1000 miles. Coaches whom travel over 1000 miles during regular league play will receive an excessive mileage stipend.

<u>Sports without an OSAA designated league are in control of their travel, therefore, are not eligible for the excessive mileage stipend.</u>

Excessive Mileage	Stipend
1000 - 1100 Miles	100
1101 1200 Miles	200
1201 - 1300 Miles	300
1301 - 1400 Miles	400
1401 1500 Miles	500
1501 – 1600 Miles	600
1601 – 1700 Miles	700
1701 – 1800 Miles	800

*

^{*} Cheerleading Coach is for 2 seasons – football and basketball.